
SCRUTINY : JOINT 
COMMITTEE MEETING 

JOINT MEETING WITH AUDIT COMMITTEE

2.30 pm WEDNESDAY, 18TH JANUARY, 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used 
for training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber 
and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 

above.

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 - 
Progress Update 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 1 - 28

4. Tackling Poverty Agenda 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

29 - 34

5. Housing and Community Occupational Therapy 
Disabled Facilities Grants - Joint Working 
Arrangements 
To consider the attached report 35 - 40

6. Any Other Business deemed urgent by the Chair

 



COMPOSITION: Councillor T Lewis (Chair)

Councillors: D Isaac, H Barrett, R Braithwaite, 
S P Brown, B Carter, D Davies, M Davies, 
E Galsworthy, A Jones, D Jones, G Jones, G Lewis, 
B E Mansbridge, J McCarthy, L Mytton, M O'Neill, 
D Roberts, S Slater, L E Smart, W R Smith, 
Raymond Thomas, Richard Thomas, C Tovey and 
S Williams

Co-optee(s): C Brown, A Harris, M Harris, R Holdaway, 
H Jackson, B Lewis, R Lazell, N Mahoney, A L Morgan, 
A Rees, A Roberts and T Skinner

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – 
Progress Update 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Final Welsh Local Government Settlement was announced on 21st December 
2016 and confirmed a funding reduction of 0.5% for Merthyr Tydfil for the 2017/18 
financial year.

1.2 The revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 indicates a projected 
budget deficit of £1.659 million for 2017/18 and a projected budget deficit of £13.035 
million for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20, with the indicative budget deficit for 
2020/21 currently being established.

1.3 The revised budget projections reflect 100% delivery of the strategic partnership 
budget reduction proposals of £1.748 million for 2017/18 and £3.256 million for the 
period 2017/18 to 2019/20.

1.4 The revised budget projections assume a Council Tax increase of 3.5% for the 
period of the Medium Term Financial Plan, as approved for 2016/17. 

 
1.5 In addressing the remaining budget deficit for 2017/18 Corporate Management Team 

is currently identifying further budget reduction proposals for consideration by 
Cabinet.

Date Written 5th January 2017
Report Author Steve Jones
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 18th January 2017

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The current revisions to the Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 be 
noted and challenged.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Final Local Government Settlement for 2017/18 was announced on 21st  
December 2016 and is governed by the following characteristics:

 
o A total revenue funding increase for all Welsh Local Authorities of 0.24% 

(£9.988 million) from an adjusted 2016/17 base of £4.104 billion to £4.114 
billion

o A revenue funding reduction for Merthyr Tydfil of 0.5% (£446,000) from an 
adjusted 2016/17 base of £89.209 million to £88.763 million

o Two Local Authorities, namely Merthyr Tydfil and Powys are supported by a 
“floor mechanism” whereby the Welsh Government ensures that no Local 
Authority experiences a funding reduction greater than 0.5%

o Without the “floor mechanism” Merthyr Tydfil would have experienced a 
funding reduction of 0.94% equating to a further cash reduction of £391,000. 

o Merthyr Tydfil’s revenue settlement is ranked joint 21st with Powys of all 22 
Welsh Local Authorities but 2nd best on a per capita basis

o Funding formula and data set changes have resulted in Merthyr Tydfil moving 
from 4th best revenue settlement in 2016/17 to bottom two with protection in 
2017/18 

o There is no formal Welsh Government mandated 1% cash protection 
commitment for schools

o Council Tax Base for tax-setting purposes increased from 17,896.23 to 
18,069.24.  

3.2 The summary Final Revenue Settlement for 2017/18 is included as Appendix 1 with 
changes to key data sets included as Appendix 2. 

3.3 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2016/17 to 2019/20 was approved by 
Council on 23rd March 2016 with the following characteristics:

o Requirement for £4.079 million of budget reductions for 2016/17 through the 
change management programme

o Projected budget deficit of £20.302 million for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20 
as outlined in Table 1.

Page 2



Table 1 – Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2019/20

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

People and Performance Directorate
Place and Transformation Directorate
Corporate Costs
Employee Severance/Slippage
Corporate Risk Fund
Non General Fund Allocations
Collection Fund Surplus
Corporate Vacancy Factor
Contribution from Biffa Profit Share

75,830
22,740
23,210

1,210
600

-835
-600
-200

0

77,572
23,427
23,378

1,206
600

-835
-600
-100

0

78,913
24,048
23,642

1,206
600

-835
-600
-100

0

Net Expenditure 121,955 124,648 126,874

Available Finance 111,938 109,345 106,572

Projected Budget Deficit 10,017 15,303 20,302

3.4 The projected budget deficits for 2017/18 to 2019/20 were based on an indicative 
Council Tax increase of 3.5% per annum (as approved for 2016/17) and funding 
reductions of 3.57%, 4.07% and 4.5% respectively.

3.5 Council of 7th September 2016 further approved revisions to the MTFP in addressing 
the £4.079 million budget reduction requirement for 2016/17. The resulting 
implications to the projected budget deficits for 2017/18 to 2019/20 are summarised 
in Table 2 with extracts from the 7th September 2016 Council report included as 
Appendices 3 to 6.

Table 2 – Revised Budget Deficits 2017/18 to 2019/20

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Budget Deficit
Council 23rd March 2016

Corporate Adjustments (Appendix 3)
 
Accounting Adjustments (Appendix 4)

Budget Reductions (Appendix 5)

Strategic Partnership Budget 
Reduction Proposals (Appendix 6)

10,017

333

-1,585

-2,346

-1,748

15,303

1,061

-1,566

-2,375

-2,956

20,302

1,068

-796

-2,058

-3,256 

Revised Budget Deficit 4,671 9,467 15,260

Page 3



3.6 From Table 2 it is evident that as at 7th September 2016 further net budget 
reductions of £4.671 million were required to be identified for 2017/18 and £15.260 
million for the three year period 2017/18 to 2019/20. 

4.0 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN REVISIONS

4.1 A Medium Term Financial Plan is a rolling programme, continually evolving as further 
information and changing circumstances become known. Council of 30th November 
2016 and Cabinet of 11th January 2017 considered further revisions to the MTFP as 
summarised in Table 3.

Table 3 – Revised MTFP 2017/18 to 2019/20

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Budget Deficit
Council 7th September 2016

Implications of Revenue Settlement
Net Schools’ Commitment
Corporate Growth Requirements
Corporate Budget Reductions
Service Outcome Focused Redesign

4,671

-3,009
948

1,922
-2,603

-270

9,467

-2,524
1,201
1,962

-3,022
-280

15,260

-2,431
1,433
1,925

-2,863
-289

Revised Budget Deficit 1,659 6,804 13,035

4.2 It is evident from Table 3 that the revised budget deficit is £1.659 million for 2017/18 
and a projected £13.035 million for the three year period 2017/18 to 2019/20. It 
should be noted that the revised budget deficits reflect 100% delivery of the strategic 
partnership budget reduction proposals.

4.3 It should be noted that the projected financial position for 2020/21 is currently being 
determined in establishing the MTFP for the four year period 2017/18 to 2020/21.     

4.4 Sections 5 to 9 consider in further detail the further revisions to the MTFP 2017/18 to 
2019/20.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS OF REVENUE SETTLEMENT

5.1 The Welsh Government’s Final Local Government Settlement was announced on 
21st December 2016 and resulted in a reduction in Aggregate External Finance 
(AEF) for 2017/18 of 0.5% for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. No indications 
were provided in respect of indicative future year settlements thus inhibiting Local 
Authorities’ ability to effectively plan over the medium term.

Page 4



5.2 The MTFP impact from the final settlement is outlined in Appendix 7 and 
summarised in Table 4 and demonstrates increased spending power of £3.009 
million for 2017/18.

Table 4 – Implications of Final Local Government Settlement   

Description 2017/18 
£’000

2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Increase in Aggregate External 
Finance

Increased Spending Power 
Resulting from Council Tax Base

-2,758

-251

-2,265

-259

-2,162

-269

-2,065

-278

Net Increased Spending Power -3,009 -2,524 -2,431 -2,343

5.3 As indicated in Appendix 7 calculations of total monies available for the period of the 
MTFP are currently based on a council tax increase of 3.5% per annum (as 
approved for 2016/17).

5.4 Although the Council received a better than anticipated revenue settlement for 
2017/18 at a reduction of 0.5% rather than the estimated reduction of 3.57%, in the 
absence of indicative future years’ settlements from the Welsh Government it is 
proposed that the AEF is estimated at a reduction of 4.5% for the period 2018/19 to 
2020/21 owing to the following:

o The continuing austerity measures projected to be faced by Local 
Government over the medium term and the impact to potential future Local 
Government funding from continued financial pressures experienced in the 
National Health Service

o The uncertainty surrounding the potential implications of Brexit
o Welsh Government’s indication that the 2017/18 revenue settlement is “as 

good as it gets” with potential significant reductions from 2018/19

6.0 SCHOOLS’ CASH PROTECTION COMMITMENT

6.1 In the announcement of the Local Government Settlement for 2017/18 there was no 
commitment by the Welsh Government’s Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local 
Government of the continuation of the financial commitment to schools through the 
cash protection mechanism. 

6.2 Previously Local Authorities were obliged to apply cash protection for schools at 1% 
above Welsh Government’s funding from Central Government. Based on the Welsh 
Government’s 2016/17 Draft Budget, schools’ were previously advised of an 
indicative cash protection of 1.92% for 2017/18.

6.3 As part of an ongoing efficiency programme in responding to the potential for the 
Welsh Government’s cash protection commitment to be discontinued the Schools 

Page 5



Forum through its Task and Finish Group has identified £200,000 of budget 
reduction opportunities itemised in Appendix 8.

6.4 Application of an indicative 1.92% cash protection for 2017/18 net of the identified 
£200,000 budget reductions results in a projected corporate financial commitment of 
£948,000 for 2017/18 as indicated in Table 5.

Table 5 – Projected Schools’ Financial Commitment

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Pupil Number Growth – 2017/18
Cash Protection at 1.92% – 2017/18 
Pupil Number Growth – Future Years
Cash Protection – Future Years
Identified Budget Reductions

441
707
n/a
n/a

-200

441
707
253

0
-200

441
707
485

0
-200

Net Schools’ Commitment 948 1,201 1,433

6.5 Although no future years potential cash commitment is reflected in Table 5 it is 
recognised that the ISB requirement for 2018/19 and beyond will be calculated on 
the same basis as all non-school Council budgets reflecting pay awards, increased 
national insurance contributions, increased pension costs and salary incremental 
progressions.  

7.0 CORPORATE GROWTH REQUIREMENTS

7.1 Managers have identified a number of additional expenditure requirements, 
considered unavoidable, for inclusion in the MTFP. These budget growth 
requirements are detailed in Appendix 9, summarised in Table 6 and total £1.922 
million for 2017/18.

Table 6 – Budget Growth Requirements 

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Net Transfers into the Settlement
New Responsibilities
Welsh Translations
Data Protection Officer
Apprenticeship Levy
Learning – Enhanced Provision
Learning – Special Recoupment
Looked After Children
Single Environment Grant
Miscellaneous Requests

47
93
45
59

263
385
358
210

83
379

47
93
45
64

266
360
359
210

83
435

47
93
45
69

268
330
359
210

83
421

Total Growth Requirements 1,922 1,962 1,925

Page 6



7.2 It is recognised that without reflecting these additional expenditure requirements 
within the MTFP the Council will face significant financial pressures in remaining 
within Budget for 2017/18 and the medium to long term. All growth requirements 
however are subject to ongoing review with any identified amendments, owing to 
updated information, reported in due course.    

8.0 CORPORATE BUDGET REDUCTIONS

8.1 A number of corporate budget reduction initiatives are proposed in assisting the 
Council in meeting its financial commitments for 2017/18 and beyond. These are 
detailed in Appendix 10 and summarised in Table 7.

8.2 It is evident from Table 7 that £2.603 million of corporate budget reduction initiatives 
are proposed for the 2017/18 financial year.

 Table 7 – Corporate Budget Reduction Initiatives 

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Balance Sheet Review
Insurance Fund Review
Corporate Vacancy Factor
Council Tax Reduction Scheme
Pension Contributions
Holiday Pay
Capital Financing Costs

-1,000
-500
-200
-200
-257

-25
-421

-800
-500
-300
-200
-776

-25
-421

-600
0

-300
-200

-1,317
-25

-421

Total Corporate Budget Reductions -2,603 3,022 -2,863

8.3 In addressing the requirements of ‘The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015’, the sustainability of all proposals has been considered in minimising the 
potential  impact on future Budgets.  

9.0 SERVICE OUTCOME FOCUSED REDESIGN

9.1 Outcome Focused Redesign of services considers the outcomes the Council is 
aiming to achieve and the most appropriate method of delivery. It defines the 
Council’s “to be” state and underpins the whole Change Management Programme. 
This exercise is fundamental in addressing the Council’s projected budget deficit for 
the 4 year period of the MTFP by ensuring decisions are linked to the Council’s 
strategic ambitions.

9.2 Further outcome focused redesign initiatives are detailed in Appendix 11 and 
summarised in Table 8.

Page 7



Table 8 – Outcome Focused Redesign Initiatives 

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Relocation of the Highways Depot
Voluntary Early Retirement / Voluntary 
Redundancy

-135
-135

-135
-145

-135
-154

Total Initiatives -270 -280 -289

9.3 It is evident from Table 8 that £270,000 further budget reductions have been 
identified for 2017/18 and reflected within the MTFP.

10.0 FURTHER PROPOSALS

10.1 Corporate Management Team workshops were held on the 10th and 11th January 
2017 to consider a suite of budget reduction opportunities identified by Chief Officers 
and Service Managers in addressing the remaining budget deficit for 2017/18 of 
£1.659 million.

10.2 A Cabinet Workshop is to be held late January 2017 to consider Corporate 
Management Team’s proposals for budget reductions before consideration at formal 
Cabinet.  

11.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

11.1 The revised MTFP for 2017/18 to 2019/20 currently projects a budget deficit of 
£1.659 million for 2017/18 and £13.035 million for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20.

11.2 The revised budget deficits reflect 100% delivery of the strategic partnership budget 
reduction proposals of £1.748 million for 2017/18 and £3.256 million for the period 
2017/18 to 2019/20.

11.3 In establishing a four year MTFP for approval at Council, the projected budget deficit 
for 2020/21 is currently being determined. 

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR PHIL WILLIAMS
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

Page 8



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20 
– Progress Update

Provisional Local 
Government Settlement 
2017/18

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 
– Presentation

Revised Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2017/18 
to 2020/21 – Progress 
Update

Final Local Government 
Settlement 2017/18

Revised Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2017/18 
to 2020/21 – Progress 
Update January 2017

Medium Term Financial 
Plan / Budget Working 
Papers

Council 23rd March 2016

Council 7th September 
2016

Announced 19th October 
2016

Budget Board 2nd 
November 2016

Council 30th November 
2016

Announced 21st 
December 2016

Cabinet 11th January 
2017

March 2016 to 
December 2016

Council agenda and minutes / 
Finance Department

Council agenda and minutes / 
Finance Department

Finance Department

Finance Department

Council agenda and minutes / 
Finance Department

Finance Department

Finance Department

Finance Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Page 9



Appendix 1
WELSH LOCAL GOVERNMENT SETTLEMENT 2017-18
Final

Table 1a: Change in Aggregate External Finance (AEF) plus top-up funding, adjusted for transfers, by Unitary Authority
£'000s

Isle of Anglesey 92,222 92,652 0.5% 8
Gwynedd 167,155 168,964 1.1% 1
Conwy 149,793 150,557 0.5% 7
Denbighshire 139,608 140,474 0.6% 5
Flintshire 184,722 185,033 0.2% 11
Wrexham 170,222 169,447 -0.5% 20
Powys 170,882 170,028 -0.5% 21
Ceredigion 97,034 97,937 0.9% 2
Pembrokeshire 156,973 156,776 -0.1% 16
Carmarthenshire 251,724 252,176 0.2% 10
Swansea 308,411 310,701 0.7% 4
Neath Port Talbot 206,003 207,571 0.8% 3
Bridgend 187,452 187,638 0.1% 12
The Vale Of Glamorgan 149,851 149,554 -0.2% 17
Rhondda Cynon Taf 353,882 355,447 0.4% 9
Merthyr Tydfil 89,209 88,763 -0.5% 21
Caerphilly 263,849 263,627 -0.1% 15
Blaenau Gwent 109,387 108,979 -0.4% 19
Torfaen 129,407 129,031 -0.3% 18
Monmouthshire 91,786 91,799 0.0% 14
Newport 208,142 208,250 0.1% 13
Cardiff 425,919 428,217 0.5% 6

Total Unitary Authorities 4,103,632 4,113,620 0.2%

Unitary authority Percentage 
difference Rank

2016-17 final 
Aggregate External Finance* 

plus top-up funding

2017-18 final 
Aggregate External Finance 

plus top-up funding

P
age 10



Appendix 2
Changes in Key Datasets 2017-18
Final

Merthyr Tydfil Wales

Dataset 2016-17 
Final

2017-18 
Final

% 
Difference Rank 2016-17 

Final
2017-18 

Final
% 

Difference

Population - 2014-based 60,077 59,180 -1.5% 18 3,131,170 3,116,371 -0.5%

Pupil Numbers - Nursery and Primary 5,211 5,278 1.3% 13 257,423 261,391 1.5%

Pupil Numbers - Secondary in year groups 7-11 2,906 2,856 -1.7% 16 158,384 156,986 -0.9%

Free School Meals - Primary 1,113 1,074 -3.5% 15 47,125 46,265 -1.8%

Free School Meals - Secondary 667 614 -7.9% 22 27,664 27,055 -2.2%

Children in out of work families 3,600 3,400 -5.6% 19 138,700 133,400 -3.8%

Total IS/ JSA/ PC/UC (not in employment) claimants - 18 to 64 3,586 2,916 -18.7% 15 129,068 106,468 -17.5%

Total IS/ JSA/ PC claimants - 65+ 2,583 2,493 -3.5% 2 127,130 121,761 -4.2%

Total IS/ JSA/ PC/UC (not in employment) claimants - all ages 6,180 5,417 -12.4% 21 256,860 228,789 -10.9%

SDA/DLA/PIP claimants - 18 to 64 3,763 3,893 3.4% 17 138,725 145,035 4.5%

Where:

IS = Income Support

JSA = Job Seekers Allowance

PC = Pension Credit

UC = Universal Credit

SDA = Severe Disablement Allowance

DLA = Disability Living Allowance

PIP = Personal Independence Payment

P
age 11



Appendix 3

Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20 – Progress Update
Proposed Corporate Adjustments

Description 2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Single Environment Grant
Provisional Local Government Settlement 
indicated a 6.4% reduction in the all Wales 
total for 2016/17, resulting in the £66k 
growth included in the MTFP. Final 
allocation equated to a 1.8% reduction thus 
reducing the required growth requirement to 
£23k.

-43 -43 -43 -43

Additional Learning Needs Transport
Relates to contractual uplifts for transport 
costs

44 36 54 0

Learning – Special Recoupment
Additional demand based on current trends 
and future projections

100 100 100 100

Learning – Retirement/Severance
Additional ongoing costs resulting from 
approved VER’s for 2015/16

10 10 10 10

Additional Pension Contributions
Education Services impact of projected 
additional pension contributions to RCT 
Pension Fund following Fund valuation 
during 2016/17. As advised by the Fund’s 
Actuary, Aon Hewitt.

0 84 139 204

Application of Foundation Living Wage
Projected additional financial commitment 
from the application of the Foundation Living 
Wage from 1st April 2016 as follows:

o 2016/17 at £8.39 per hour
o 2017/18 at £8.69 per hour
o 2018/19 at £8.78 per hour
o 2019/20 at £8.87 per hour
o 1st April 2020 at £9 per hour

From 2018/19 subject to review

Monies already included within the MTFP:
o 2016/17 = £50,000
o From 2017/18 = £150,000 per annum

270 283 281 303

Page 12



Appendix 3 (continued)

Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20 – Progress Update
Proposed Corporate Adjustments

Description 2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Application of Foundation Living Wage – 
Individual Schools Budget (ISB)
Application of Foundation Living Wage of 
£8.39 per hour for schools for 2016/17. 
Future years’ commitment to be financed 
through cash protection or by schools 
through planned budget reductions identified 
through the Schools’ Forum

238 0 0 0

Living Wage Earmarked Reserve
Within the 2015/16 provisional revenue 
outturn surplus £1.34 million earmarked 
reserves are set aside to finance the 
projected costs of the application of the 
Foundation Living Wage for the period 
2016/17 to 2019/20 – Cabinet 13th July 2016

-492 -277 -275 -296

South Wales Trunk Road Agent (SWTRA) 
Contract
The SWTRA contract ceased on 31st March 
2016 resulting from changes to the 
contracting Terms and Conditions owing to 
the current climate of austerity – Cabinet 
10th February 2016. Plans are ongoing to 
restructure the Highways Department with 
£141,000 of employee savings already 
approved – Cabinet 24th February 2016. 
Further proposals involve the potential 
sharing of Depot facilities with Rhondda 
Cynon Taf CBC, although unable to break 
current lease until October 2017 with 
potential savings 2018/19.

633 625 618 611

Grounds Maintenance
Additional demand resulting from the loss of 
SWTRA income together with the 
termination of the grass cutting Service 
Level Agreement with Merthyr Valleys 
Homes from 1st July 2016.

28 115 117 119

Page 13



Appendix 3 (continued)

Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20 – Progress Update
Proposed Corporate Adjustments

Description 2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Corporate Risk Fund
To alleviate the financial pressures on the 
Medium Term Financial Plan for 2016/17 to 
2017/18 it is proposed that the Corporate 
Risk Fund be relinquished for 2016/17 and 
2017/18. Instead within the 2015/16 
provisional revenue outturn surplus £1.2 
million is set aside to serve the same 
purpose – Cabinet 13th July 2016.

-600 -600 0 0

Local Development Plan (LDP)
Financial commitment associated with the 
replacement of the LDP – Council 20th April 
2016.

0 0 60 60

Total 188 333 1,061 1,068

Page 14



Appendix 4

Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20 – Progress Update
Accounting Adjustments

Description 2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Amendment to Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) Policy
This relates to capital financing costs 
associated with long-term borrowing for 
capital expenditure. A more prudent 
provision based on all debt charged to 
revenue over 50 years by the straight line 
method together with amendments to the 
treatment of infrastructure assets and capital 
expenditure where no asset life is 
determined was approved by Council on 
23rd March 2016, subject to Wales Audit 
Office (WAO) review. The subsequent WAO 
review in its audit of the Council’s 2015/16 
accounts reduced the average asset life 
from 50 to 44 years whilst disallowing the 
element relating to capital expenditure 
where no asset life determined. 

-871 -835 -816 -796

Capitalisation of Severance Costs
The Council is able to utilise capital receipts 
received during 2016/17 to 2018/19 to 
finance the costs of employee severance 
falling in those respective years, as per the 
Minister for Public Services’ direction. Based 
on current and projected future fixed asset 
sales, it is estimated that £750,000 new 
capital receipts are available per annum 
allowing the Council to capitalise revenue 
costs of employee severance thus 
alleviating the financial liability on the 
revenue budget – Council 23rd March 2016.

-750 -750 -750 0

Total -1,621 -1,585 -1,566 -796

Page 15



Appendix 5

Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20 – Progress Update
Budget Reductions

Description 2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

VR/VER Delegated Authority (Highways 
Reconfiguration) – Cabinet 24th February 
2016

-141 -143 -144 -145

VR/VER Delegated Authority (Other 
Services) – Cabinet 24th February 2016

-212 -282 -281 -281

Leisure Trust Management Fee Reduction – 
Council 23rd March 2016

-15 -15 -15 -15

Strategic Corporate Services – Council 20th 
April 2016

-98 -98 -98 -98

Income and Cost Recovery – Council 20th 
April 2016

-608 -583 -533 -508

Social Services Outcome Focused 
Redesign – Council 20th April 2016

-511 -580 -572 -544

Back Office Support Services – Cabinet 4th 
May 2016

-49 -49 -49 -49

VER (Corporate Director) – Cabinet 11th 
May 2016

-69 -117 -121 -125

Participation VER – Delegated Authority 
February 2016

-27 -29 -28 -27

Education Inclusion Service VER – 
Delegated Authority April 2016

-35 -38 -38 -38

Street Lighting/Waste VER – Delegated 
Authority May 2016

-27 -34 -35 -36

As part of the Welsh Government e-
procurement strategy for Wales the licence 
fees for all common e-procurement solutions 
were negotiated and delivered by Value 
Wales to support the e-procurement 
services programme. This resulted in the 
Council’s fees for Purchase to Pay and the 
e-commerce marketplace being paid directly 
by Welsh Government resulting in 
procurement subscription savings.

-43 -43 -43 -43

Further review of social care budgets as part 
of service outcome focused redesign

-567 -335 -418 -149

Total -2,402 -2,346 2,375 -2,058

VER = Voluntary Early Retirement
VR = Voluntary Redundancy

Page 16



Appendix 6

Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20 – Progress Update
Strategic Partnership Budget Reduction Proposals

Description 2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Customer Offering
o Channel shift
o Increased use and focus of Customer 

Contact Centre
o Improved digital offering with 

enhanced website
o Implementation of strategic 

technology
o Better use of data analytics and 

reporting

0 -322 -644 -644

Social Care Strategic Review
o Enhanced Child in Need (ECIN) 

Expansion
o Targeted prevention
o Learning Disabilities Opportunities
o Double handed care
o Right sizing client calls
o In-house respite 

0 -440 -1,010 -1,310

Supporting People Grant
o More effective use and value for 

money  

0 -84 -400 -400

Procurement
o Governance through Procurement 

Board and contract review
o Cross cutting expenditure
o Tactical spend review
o Fleet management 

-244 -902 -902 -902

Social Care Strategic Review Investment
Relates to the employment of a Social 
Worker Team to drive forward the ‘Looked 
After Children’ preventative agenda. This 
commitment was outlined within the Change 
Programme’s Social Care Strategic 
Sourcing Plan.

169 178 184 188

Contribution from Corporate Risk Fund
Funding to support the enablement of the 
‘Looked After Children’ preventative agenda.  

-169 -178 -184 -188

Total -244 -1,748 -2,956 -3,256

Page 17



Appendix 7

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – Progress Update
Implications of Local Government Revenue Settlement

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Aggregate External Finance  (Note 1)
Original MTFP (Note 2)
Final Settlement  (Note 3)

86,005
88,763

82,504
84,769

78,792
80,954

75,246
77,311

Increase in Aggregate External Finance -2,758 -2,265 -2,162 -2,065

Council Tax Base
Original MTFP Council Tax levy  (Note 4)
Final Council Tax levy  (Note 5)

25,933
26,184

26,841
27,100

27,780
28,049

28,753
29,031

Increase in Council Tax levy  (Note 6) -251 -259 -269 -278

Net Impact of Final Revenue Settlement -3,009 -2,524 -2,431 -2,343

Notes

1. The Aggregate External Finance (AEF) consists of the total of Revenue Support 
Grant and Redistributed Non Domestic Rates.

2. Based on an estimated Council AEF of -3.57% for 2017/18, an estimated -4.07% for 
2018/19 and an estimated -4.50% for 2019/20.

3. Based on Final Welsh Government AEF of -0.5% for 2017/18 and estimated Council 
AEF of -4.5% for 2018/19 to 2020/21, inclusive of Welsh Government Tax Base 
adjustment

4. Based on Council Tax Base of 17,896.23 (96% collection rate) – 2016/17 base 
approved by Council 2nd December 2015

5. Based on Final Council Tax Base of 18,069.24 (96% collection rate) – 2017/18 base 
approved by Council 30th November 2016

6. Based on an indicative Council Tax Increase of 3.5% per annum (as approved for 
2016/17)

Page 18



Appendix 8

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – Progress Update
School Forum Recommended Budget Reductions

Description £’000
2016/17 Efficiency Savings
Efficiency savings delivered as part of the 2016/17 Individual 
Schools Budget (ISB) funding efficiencies

12

Breakfast Clubs
Proposed changes to Breakfast Club service delivery being 
considered for September 2017

Or if not supported:

Addressing Underachievement
Relates to a 6.2% reduction of the lump sum funding allocation

57

Education Other Than At School (EOTAS)
Reduced funds required to manage EOTAS provision as a 
result of a change to transport arrangements and provision

53

Recreational Facilities
Relates to a 15% reduction in the recreational facilities funding 
allocation

16

Grounds Maintenance
Relates to a 10% reduction in the grounds maintenance 
funding allocation

13

Clothing and Maintenance Allowance
Removal of clothing and maintenance allowance funding 
allocation from Primary / Special sector at a saving of £20,000 
and reduction of funding allocation in the Secondary sector by 
£26,000

46

Miscellaneous
General efficiency savings

3

Total 200

Page 19



Appendix 9

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – Progress Update
Corporate Growth Requirements

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Transfers In to and Out of the Settlement
Funding previously provided as specific grants has 
been transferred into the settlement for 2017/18, 
namely:

• Social Services Delivering Transformation 
Grant (£61,959)

• Deprivation of Liberty Standards Safeguards 
(£3,165)

• Blue Badge Scheme Additional Funding 
(£230)

• Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (£1,249)
In addition a change in the arrangements for the 
registration of the education workforce has resulted 
in a transfer out of the settlement monies formerly 
provided for teacher registration fee subsidies 
(£19,328)

47 47 47

New Responsibilities
There are two new responsibilities included within 
the Settlement and reflected in corporate growth 
requirements:

1. £86,379 to fund the commitment to increase 
the capital limit for charging for residential 
care from £24,000 to £30,000

2. £6,444 to fund the commitment to fully 
disregard the War Disablement Pension in 
financial assessments for social care.

A further new responsibility included within the 
Final Local Government Settlement is currently 
being reviewed and relates to monies provided for 
work to support the prevention of homelessness 
(£109,713).

93 93 93

Welsh Translations
Additional costs arising from compliance with 
statutory Welsh Language Standards as reported 
to Council, most recently 7th September 2016.

45 45 45

Page 20



Appendix 9 (continued)

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – Progress Update
Corporate Growth Requirements

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Data Protection Officer
Creation of a Data Protection Officer post in 
compliance with the General Data Protection 
Regulations 2016 as approved by Council 28th 
September 2016 

59 64 69

Apprenticeship Levy
This relates to the introduction of a UK 
Government employment tax on 06 April 2017, 
introduced through the 2016 Finance Bill, to 
finance apprenticeships. It applies to all Employers 
(public, private and third sector) with a pay bill in 
excess of £3 million. The levy is calculated as 
0.5% of the pay bill less an allowance of £15,000 
per year.

263 266 268

Learning – Enhanced Provision
Relates to additional learning needs within schools. 
Current financial pressures in respect of 2016/17 
were reported to Cabinet on 27th July 2016 and 
16th November 2016. In addition, both the Cabinet 
Member and Chief Officer for Learning attended 
the Budget Boards of August and October 2016 to 
explain the reasons for the financial pressures. 

385 360 330

Learning – Special Recoupment
Relates to additional placements and increased 
transport costs in respect of out of county 
placements for children with special needs. Current 
financial pressures in respect of 2016/17 were 
reported to Cabinet on 27th July 2016 and 16th 
November 2016. In addition, both the Cabinet 
Member and Chief Officer for Learning attended 
the Budget Boards of August and October 2016 to 
explain the reasons for the financial pressures.

358 359 359

Page 21



Appendix 9 (continued)

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – Progress Update
Corporate Growth Requirements

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Looked After Children
This reflects financial pressures resulting from 
additional residential placements within the 
‘Looked After Children’ system. Current financial 
pressures in respect of 2016/17 were reported to 
the Budget Boards of September and October 
2016 and Cabinet of 16th November 2016. In 
addition, both the Cabinet Member and Chief 
Officer for Social Services attended the October 
Budget Board to explain the reasons for the 
financial pressures.

210 210 210

Single Environment Grant
Reflects a 6.72% reduction in the all Wales figure 
for 2017/18. MTCBC’s allocation yet to be 
confirmed.

83 83 83

Social Services Collaborative Partnerships
Relates to a funding increase agreed by the 
Regional Partnership Board involving Merthyr 
Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan as lead Authority. Merthyr Tydfil’s 
contribution is 11% or £160,000 for 2017/18

14 14 14

Adult Social Services – MTCBC Group Home 
(Llysfaen Fach)
The Social Services and Well-being Act 
consolidated non-residential charging whilst 
removing specific respite charging 

12 12 0

Learning – Maternity Costs
Extra demand on current levels of maternity in 
schools

21 22 24

Learning – Retirement Costs
Increased levels of school based staff 
redundancies/retirements due to budget pressures

51 60 67

Page 22



Appendix 9 (continued)

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – Progress Update
Corporate Growth Requirements

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Learning – Schools Data Management Systems
Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC Service Level 
Agreement for Capita One Management 
Information System

15 15 15

Neighbourhood Services – Street Cleansing
Loss of income due to the termination of the 
contract with Merthyr Valleys Homes

23 23 23

Neighbourhood Services – Street Cleansing
The costs of cleaning the trunk road once per year 
(with another clean being carried out by the South 
Wales Trunk Road Agent). The work will be carried 
out with existing resources but there will be 
additional traffic management and waste disposal 
costs.

63 63 63

Net Neighbourhood Services – Fly Tipping 
Enforcement and Corporate Property & Estates
Creation of a Technical Admin post for Fly Tipping 
Enforcement (Grade 4) to be offset by the deletion 
of a currently vacant Clerk of Works post within 
Property Services (Grade 7)

-6 -6 -4

Corporate Property and Estates
Additional budget required to meet costs 
associated with the acquisition of properties at Taff 
& Crescent Street, Merthyr Vale, including council 
tax liabilities.  Although a budget was initially 
approved by Cabinet on 19th December 2014 the 
acquisitions are taking longer than initially 
reported.

16 56 31

Public Protection – Housing Services
Following a VER release, a part-time Housing 
Solutions Officer has been promoted to a full-time 
Team Leader role. This was not part of the original 
business case.

10 11 12

Page 23



Appendix 9 (continued)

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – Progress Update
Corporate Growth Requirements

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Public Protection – Transport
Additional software licence costs incurred from 
2018/19 onwards.

0 6 6

Planning – Development Plan
Re-profiling of the Local Development Plan budget.

0 0 9

Corporate Services – CCTV
Merthyr Valley Homes are reducing the funding 
they provide towards CCTV from 31st December 
2016.

48 48 48

Corporate Services – Peace of Mind
Loss of provision to non-sheltered accommodation.

17 17 17

Corporate Services – Benefits
Reduction in Housing Benefit administration grant.

18 18 18

Corporate Services – Retained Leisure
Agency staff to address lack of female participation 
in sport in the borough.

7 7 7

Finance – Accountancy
As a consequence of the Communities First 
Project ending in December 2017 and a reduction 
in funding in 2016/17 the grant cannot be matched 
into the Inspire project and instead Accountancy 
must match core salaries instead of receiving 
income from the grant.

9 13 15

Finance – Procurement
Reduced income as a result of Stagecoach no 
longer accepting purchase card payments

11 11 11

Human Resources
Reduction in Service Level Agreement income 
from Education and Leisure Trust.
  

50 45 45

Total 1,922 1,962 1,925

Page 24



Appendix 10

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – Progress Update
Corporate Budget Reductions

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Balance Sheet and Bad Debt Provision Review
Relates to the following initiatives:

• Re-classification of accounts from debtors 
and creditors to earmarked reserves within 
the 2015/16 accounts closure process.

• Proposed revision to the bad debt provision 
from the current methodology based on 
fixed percentages linked to the age of 
outstanding debt to one encompassing a 
review of trend data. To be introduced for 
the 2016/17 closure of accounts exercise. 

• Review and consolidation of existing 
earmarked reserves

It is projected that a potential £3 million is available 
to assist with the medium term budget process for 
the next 5 years based on a £200,000 per annum 
reduction in contribution.

-1,000 -800 -600

Insurance Fund Review
A review incorporating insurance claims trends and 
projections together with Insurance Fund 
comparisons with all Welsh Local Authorities has 
concluded that no insurance fund injection is 
required for 2017/18 to 2018/19. This proposal will 
reduce the Insurance Fund from a balance of 
£2.031 million at 31st March 2016 to a projected 
balance of between £1.031 million and £1.331 
million at 31st March 2019. This is deemed 
satisfactory as an Insurance Provision totalling 
£1.030 million at 31st March 2016 also exists to 
meet the Council’s currently known outstanding 
insurance claims obligations.   

-500 -500 0

Corporate Vacancy Factor
Relates to savings resulting from the time elapsing 
between core funded posts becoming vacant and 
being filled. Proposal to increase budget from 
£200,000 to £300,000 for 2017/18 and from 
£100,000 to £300,000 from 2018/19. Surplus 
outturn reported to Cabinet of 27th July 2016 and 
16th November 2016 and Budget Board throughout 
2016/17.

-200 -300 -300

Page 25



Appendix 10 (continued)

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – Progress Update
Corporate Budget Reductions

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Council Tax Reduction Scheme
Budget reductions owing to reducing caseloads in 
respect of eligible demand for assistance with 
council tax payments as reported to Cabinet on 
27th July 2016 and 16th November 2016 and 
Budget Board throughout 2016/17. Caseload has 
reduced from 7,708 at 30th September 2013 to 
6,920 at 30th September 2016.

-200 -200 -200

Pension Contributions
Valuation of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Pension Fund 
by the Fund’s actuary Aon Hewitt October 2016 
has resulted in proposed employer’s pension 
contributions as follows:

• 2017/18 at 27.9% (budgeted 29.1%)
• 2018/19 at 28.55% (budgeted 32.0%)
• 2019/20 at 29.2% (budgeted 35.0%)

The budgeted figures within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan reflected the actuary’s Fund outlook 
in November 2015. The pension contribution for 
2016/17 is 25.5%.

-257 -776 -1,317

Holiday Pay
Reduction in original estimate of £125,000 for 
holiday pay for employees regularly working above 
contracted hours.

-25 -25 -25

Capital Financing Costs
Reduced budget requirement resulting from re-
profiling of borrowing to support capital expenditure 
including the 21st Century Schools Programme. 
The borrowing strategy includes long-term 
borrowing later in the financial year with increased 
short-term borrowing rather than long-term to take 
advantage of more attractive interest rates. 
Currently the Council is securing short-term 
borrowing at an average interest rate of 0.3% 
whereas long-term borrowing interest rates would 
be circa 3%.

-421 -421 -421

Total -2,603 3,022 2,863

Page 26



Appendix 11

Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 – Progress Update
Service Outcome Focused Redesign

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Relocation of the Highways Depot
Net saving by sharing depot with Rhondda Cynon 
Taf CBC  (cost of £15,000) on exercising the break 
clause within the lease agreement for the existing 
depot at Unit 20 – approved by Cabinet 27th July 
2016.

-135 -135 -135

Education and Admissions
Voluntary Early Retirement delegated authority 
July 2016

-22 -30 -37

Additional Learning Needs Reconfiguration
Voluntary Early Retirement  delegated authority 
October 2016

-98 -101 -103

Education and Inclusions Service
Voluntary Redundancy delegated authority 
November 2016

-15 -14 -14

Total -270 -280 -289

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Tackling Poverty Agenda

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report outlines the proposed governance arrangements of the tackling poverty 
agenda and establishes a unified approach that will improve integration of services 
and maximise the resources available of both grant and core services that 
contributes to the anti poverty agenda.  However it should be remembered that all 
services across the council play a part in reducing or tackling poverty and is 
evidenced in the importance being placed on the preventative agenda and wellbeing 
by Welsh Government, especially in relation to the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. 

1.2 The report also identifies the critical areas for development that will enable elected 
members and officers to better understand how community based preventative 
services contribute to the strategic priorities of the council. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The content of the report and the next steps be noted and challenged. 

2.2 The Governance Structure of the Tackling Poverty Partnership Board and Strategic 
Group as outlined in section 5.3 be discussed.

2.3 The tackling poverty scrutiny arrangements through the Joint Scrutiny Committee as 
outlined in 5.2 be noted. 

Date Written 5th January 2017
Report Author Chris Hole
Service Area Community Wellbeing 
Committee Date 18th January 2017

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 It has been requested that this report comes to scrutiny to ensure that the 
Governance arrangements for the proposed Anti Poverty agenda are appropriate.  
Members are asked to consider whether the proposed structure will ensure stronger 
strategic direction of the Anti poverty agenda and how this fits with the priorities for 
the Council and the County Borough as a whole.  Scrutiny of the governance 
arrangements and regular reporting on the future priorities (in line with terms and 
conditions of the grants) will enable members to shape the future prevention agenda 
to meet the identified needs of the communities of Merthyr Tydfil.  

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 The Council has been leading on the 4 main anti poverty programmes which are 
funded by Welsh Government for a number of years, with 2 of the programmes 
namely Communities First and Flying Start having been delivered for over 10 years.  
There are also 2 additional substantive programmes from Welsh Government that 
contribute to this agenda in Families First and Supporting People.  Alongside these 
are a number of smaller grants most of which are managed by Council departments 
or in some cases directly by schools eg. the pupil deprivation grant. 

4.2 The governance arrangements across the main anti poverty programmes have 
differed significantly  and  in 2016  the following  was understood to be the position:

4.2.1 Flying Start – Multi agency early years steering  group in place operating to a 
council agreed strategy.

4.2.2 Communities First -  Cluster boards in place but no strategic governance.

4.2.3 Supporting People –collaborative approach across Cwm Taf.

4.2.4 Families First – the steering group dissolved approximately 3 years ago.

4.3 A number of heads of service have had responsibility for these programmes and 
therefore the opportunity to develop a cohesive and integrated approach was not 
exploited to the full. 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 There has been significant work undertaken to develop a wider understanding of all 
the grant resources being received by the council to address the poverty agenda.  
Alongside this these prevention and early intervention resources have been mapped 
against individual priorities which are either set by the terms and conditions of the 
grants or have been identified locally.  The information collated was shared with an 
internal working group representative of directorates across the council in order to 
consider the future direction of the poverty programmes.

5.2 The working group in looking at the future direction have proposed that the agenda 
be led by a Tackling Poverty Partnership board and a Strategic Group to ensure that 
future prevention and early intervention services work collaboratively within a 
strategic framework of priorities that are agreed by elected members of the county 
borough (APPENDIX A).  Through this approach it is recommended that the 

Page 30



progress and performance of the Tackling Poverty agenda be regularly reported 
through the Joint Scrutiny arrangements because of the cross cutting nature of 
poverty.  

5.3 Tackling Poverty Partnership Board – It is proposed that the partnership board be 
made up of the following members:

 Poverty Champion
 Cabinet Member for Social Services
 Cabinet Member for Education
 Chief Officer for Social Services
 Chief Officer for Learning
 Chief Officer for Community Regeneration
 PSB representative.

5.3.1 The purpose of the Tackling Poverty Partnership Board will be to:

 approve the strategic direction in line with the corporate priorities 
presented by the tackling poverty strategic group 

 hold the tackling poverty strategic group to account for achieving the 
agreed outcomes

 ensuring that all anti poverty grants are utilised in line with the purposes 
set out in the grants terms and conditions 

5.4 The Tackling Poverty Strategic Group – it is proposed that the strategic group 
consist of the following members  to ensure an inclusive approach with partners 
across the county borough and that the group be chaired by the Chief Officer for 
Social Services

 Chief Officer for Social Services
 Chief Officer for Learning
 Chief Officer for Community Regeneration
 Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services
 Head of Service for Community Wellbeing
 Third Sector representative (VAMT)
 Leisure Trust representative
 Local Health Board representative
 Public Health Representative

5.4.1 The Tackling Poverty Strategic Group will explore new ways of working across 
and with organisations, in partnership it will adopt innovative solutions to 
address issues or barriers that prevent achieving better outcomes for the 
people of Merthyr Tydfil.  Through the tackling poverty agenda the group will 
make recommendations over the future use of both external and internal 
resources to ensure the efficient and effective use of resources in the 
planning, commissioning and delivery of services that have their focus on 
tackling poverty in all its forms.  Through this process the group will assist the 
Tackling Poverty Partnership Board in tackling the most challenging issues 
facing Merthyr’s population.  

Page 31



5.5 Through the recent restructure of the senior management team of the organisation 
the council has brought a large number of the community focused services and the 
Anti poverty agenda into a single structure reporting to the Chief Officer for Social 
Services.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 Through this structure and the Tackling Poverty Strategic Group it is intended that 
more efficient and effective use of resources can be developed to drive key priorities 
for the council and the poverty agenda by investigating opportunities for joint 
commissioning of preventative services.  The Strategic group will be seeking to 
agree a set of shared outcomes across the Tackling Poverty agenda in order to 
support a Tackling Poverty Action Plan for Merthyr Tydfil.  This will equip the 
strategic group with the ability to measure the impact of the approach being taken 
and of how this has impacted on the desired outcomes.  The group will also be 
striving to establish value for money assessments against service areas and the 
potential cost benefit analysis of the preventative approach.  

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 In taking this agenda forward the following key priorities have been identified:

 Agree the terms of reference for the Partnership Board with its members.
 Restructure and shape the future delivery of Communities First in light of recent 

guidance from Welsh Government and minimise the impact as far as possible. 
 Reshape the delivery of the Families First grant by September 2017 in light of 

recent guidance given by Welsh Government.
 Develop and agree a shared outcomes framework for tackling poverty.
 Develop and agree a tackling poverty action plan.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 All services across the council and its partners contribute towards the tackling of 
poverty within Merthyr Tydfil due to the far reaching impact of poverty on individuals 
and the community as a whole.  Therefore the Tackling Poverty agenda has to 
consider both the immediate issues and the long term strategy for tackling poverty 
through an effective preventative approach.  An assessment of the tackling poverty 
grants and identified core funded services contribute to the following corporate plan 
and single integrated plan priorities. 

 
Corporate Plan Single Integrated Plan

Attainment (PA 1) Learning  (PO 1)
Promoting Independence(PA 2) Employability (PO 2)

Meeting the needs of Vulnerable Children (PA 3) Healthier Life (PO 3)
Active Lifestyles (PA 4)

Employability (PA 6)

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES
Page 32



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 33



                                              ACCOUNTABILITY

TACKLING POVERTY STRATEGIC 
GROUP

TACKLING POVERTY PARTNERSHIP 
BOARD

JOINT SCRUTINY CABINET/COUNCIL

PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD

OPERATIONAL GROUP 
(Lead by head of service)

Service areas

 Community Resilience
 Employability
 Economic Development
 Communities First
 Families First
 Flying Start
 Youth servces
 Supporting People
 Housing

PROVIDERS

Grant and core funded 

Appendix A

Page 34



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Housing and Community Occupational Therapy 
Disabled Facilities Grants – Joint Working 
Arrangements

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report outlines the interface between the Local Authority Housing department 
and the Community Occupational Therapy Team in respect of the assessment and 
completion of housing adaptations that are completed as part of the Disabled 
Facilities Grant (DFG) arrangements.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 The content of the report be debated and noted.
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Housing Grants Department and Community Occupational Therapy (OT) service 
work collaboratively to deliver Disabled Facility Grants to enable people with a 
disability to remain living in their own homes.  These adaptations can range from the 
installation of a simple stair lift to major adaptations and extensions to properties.  
Costs can typically range from £1,000 to £36,000+.  The Housing Grants Team 
complete around 90 DFG projects per year and have an annual budget of £850,000 
(capital).

Date Written 11th January 2017
Report Author Julian Pike/Angela Edevane
Service Area Housing & Adult Social Care
Committee Date 18th January 2017

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



3.2 The responsibility of the Community OT (COT) in this process is to undertake the 
assessment of the individual supported by medical evidence where applicable and 
recommend the work to be undertaken to the grants department.  The COT 
determines which works are ‘necessary and appropriate’.  An electronic referral (e-
form) is then sent to the Housing Grants Team to consider.

3.3 The responsibility of the Housing Grants Team is to firstly determine whether the 
works proposed are ‘reasonable and practicable’ – that is to consider are the works 
proportionate, technically feasible and can they be completed within the grant limit 
(£36,000 max grant).  The Housing Grants Team offer an additional non-statutory 
service called the Grantline Agency.  The Agency service provides the customer with 
all administrative and technical support to complete the paperwork required as part 
of the application and then to appoint the contractor and manage the works.

3.4 This report is being presented to scrutiny as concerns have been raised by a 
Councillor in respect of an individual citizen that subsequently brought into question 
whether the current working arrangements between the Community Occupational 
Therapy Staff and the Housing Grants Team are effective. 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 There is a long standing positive relationship between the two service areas; this is 
predominantly in respect of the assessment and provision of housing adaptations 
under the arrangements in place for the provision of Disabled Facility Grants (DFG).

4.2 Previously assessments were completed by the Community Occupational Therapists 
and the recommendations were passed to the grants department with no initial 
consultation.  Therefore the viability of the adaptation or whether it could be achieved 
within the financial cap of the DFG funding guidance was not taken into 
consideration.

4.3 Assessments were undertaken under the regulatory requirements set out in the 
“Chronically Sick & Disabled Persons Act 1970” and “NHS & Community Care Act 
1990”. 

4.4 Historically as part of the assessment and subsequent works undertaken, the two 
departments would consider undertaking an element of additional work to future 
proof the property to prevent the requirement of a second DFG at a future date 
should the persons needs deteriorate.  Examples of this would be widening door 
access to a bathroom in which a level access shower was being installed in case the 
person would become wheelchair dependent in the future.  Taking this approach 
resulted in a higher cost per adaptation when compared to the Welsh average.  

4.5 A Cabinet Report dated 30th September 2014 (laid before Cabinet on 22nd October 
2014) written by Julian Pike – the then Housing Renewal Manager (now Housing & 
Community Safety Manager) proposed the Council reduces the generous scope of 
works provided via a DFG, mainly in the creation of level access shower rooms (also 
referred to as wet-rooms) with a view to saving in the region of £150-200k per 
annum.  This decision would have no bearing on the Council’s ability to meet its 
statutory obligations but would reduce the scope of works and hence reduce costs.

Page 36



4.6 The annual budget in 2014/15 had risen to £1,000,000 with year on year increases 
being experienced.

4.7 In 2006 the Council were ranked in the bottom quartile for DFG ‘average waiting 
times’ within Wales. 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 Since 2006 significant work has been undertaken to refine processes and 
procedures, leading to greater efficiency with reduced numbers of full time staff.

5.2 Work has been ongoing to adopt a more collaborative approach to the process this 
has included joint site meetings to determine feasibility undertaken by members of 
the grants and COT teams to establish the viability of any adaptations taking into 
account planning and building regulations earlier in the process, rather than after 
referral to the Housing Grants Team.  The Housing Grants Team often conduct 
preliminary means tests on applicants where we suspect they may have a 
considerable contribution to the cost of works due to their household income levels – 
all of this work reduces timely, costly and abortive work further down the line and 
improves customer experience.

5.3 Reducing the scope of works included in particular DFGs has resulted in over 
£150,000 saving per annum, resulting in the DFG budget falling to £850,000 from its 
peak at £1,000,000 in 2014/15.

5.4 Since 2006 the Council have dramatically improved performance and have 
consistently featured in the top quartile for the statutory performance indicator (PSR 
002) which measures ‘waiting time’ (but which is actually delivery time).  This has 
culminated with MTCBC being the top performing authority in Wales twice since 
2011. 

5.5 In the early part of 2016, 2 of the 3 full time qualified COTS left employment within 
the organisation.  This resulted in a significant reduction in the ability of the team to 
respond to service requests.  These posts have now been recruited however a 
waiting list remains for the lower level assessments.

5.6 This will inevitably affect the DFG statutory performance indicator for 2016/17.  Initial 
analysis of the Q1 and Q2 of 2016/17 indicates a significant increase in the number 
of days taken to complete DFGs.  MTCBC are therefore likely to fall out of the top 
quartile for performance for the first time in a decade.

5.7 The Housing Grants Team has in recent years operated at critical capacity – with 
only 2.54 FTE staff in the department.  Any periods of staff sickness or annual leave 
has an immediate and significant effect on the ability of the department to provide a 
fast and effective service.

5.8 Front line officers from both teams advise that many more cases are complex in 
recent years, which require more in depth assessments, more medical evidence and 
assessments, greater uncertainty about future prognosis and hence more timely for 
staff to deal with and more challenging to find the best solution for our clients.

Page 37



5.9 Our clients are also far better informed these days and as a result have far higher 
expectations about the level of service they receive and the level of adaptation 
provided to them for their home.

5.10 All of the above factors are adding significant pressures to the COT Team and the 
Housing Grants Team.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 We want to remain a top performing Council for aids and adaptations.

6.2 We want to provide increased options for clients to access adaptations, rather than 
most proceeding down the DFG route which is heavily prescribed and can be 
bureaucratic.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 Both services and Heads of Service are exploring opportunities to innovate – 
exploring the idea of a Housing OT which could operate across both Teams but also 
assist in the identification and use of existing adapted stock within the County 
Borough.

7.2 We need to make best use of additional and new funding sources such as 
Intermediate Care Fund and the ENABLE grant funding, which promote innovation 
and less bureaucratic means of assessment and adaptation of homes (often at lower 
end of the adaption scale).

7.3 Seek to ensure both departments are sustainable which can robustly adapt to 
changes in personnel – such as sickness and holidays or experienced persons 
leaving the workforce.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 This report relates to the following Priority Outcome of the Corporate Plan and Single 
Integrated plan – ‘People, who live and work in Merthyr Tydfil are supported to enjoy 
a healthier and better quality of life’.

8.2 Social Services practice is compliant with the Social Services and Well-Being 
(Wales) Act.

8.3  Improve Performance.

8.4  Improve partnership working.

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER (COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION)

COUNCILLOR KATE MORAN 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION, PLANNING & 
COUNTRYSIDEPage 38



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 - Progress Update
	4 Tackling Poverty Agenda
	5 Housing and Community Occupational Therapy Disabled Facilities Grants - Joint Working Arrangements

